









# Core Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice

Sponsored by the Interprofessional Education Collaborative\*



Report of an Expert Panel May 2011

\*IPEC sponsors:

American Association of Colleges of Nursing American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy American Dental Education Association Association of American Medical Colleges Association of Schools of Public Health This document may be reproduced, distributed, publicly displayed and modified provided that attribution is clearly stated on any resulting work and it is used for non-commercial, scientific or educational—including professional development—purposes. If the work has been modified in any way all logos must be removed. Contact ip@aamc.org for permission for any other use.

### Suggested citation:

Interprofessional Education Collaborative Expert Panel. (2011). *Core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice: Report of an expert panel.* Washington, D.C.: Interprofessional Education Collaborative.

**Photo Credit** Libby Frost/University of Minnesota Family Medicine and Community Health

# **Core Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice**

Report of an Expert Panel

This report is inspired by a vision of interprofessional collaborative practice as key to the safe, high quality, accessible, patient-centered care desired by all. Achieving that vision for the future requires the continuous development of interprofessional competencies by health professions students as part of the learning process, so that they enter the workforce ready to practice effective teamwork and team-based care. Our intent was to build on each profession's expected disciplinary competencies in defining competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice. These disciplinary competencies are taught within the professions. The development of interprofessional collaborative competencies (interprofessional education), however, requires moving beyond these profession-specific educational efforts to engage students of different professions in interactive learning with each other. Being able to work effectively as members of clinical teams while students is a fundamental part of that learning.

## Table of Contents

Organization of Report	1
Setting the Parameters Operational Definitions	1 2
Why Interprofessional Competency Development Now? Interprofessional education, by profession	3 5
The Concept of Interprofessionality	8
Frameworks Reflective of the Interdependence between Health Professions' Education and Practice Needs	9
The Competency Approach to Health Professions Education and Interprofessional Learning	12
Interprofessional Competencies	13
Developing Interprofessional Education Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice in the U.S.	14
Core Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice Competency Domain 1: Values/Ethics for Interprofessional Practice Competency Domain 2: Roles/Responsibilities Competency Domain 3: Interprofessional Communication Competency Domain 4: Teams and Teamwork	15 17 20 22 24
Competencies, Learning Objectives and Learning Activities	26
Learning Activities, Examples	28
Stages of Competency Development	
Theories Informing Interprofessional Education	33
Key Challenges to the Uptake and Implementation of Core Interprofessional Competencies	34
Scope of This Report	36
References	39
Appendix - Interprofessional Education Collaborative, Expert Panel Charge, Process and Panel Participants	45

## Organization of Report

This report is organized in the following fashion: first, we provide key definitions and principles that guided us in identifying core interprofessional competencies. Then, we describe the timeliness of interprofessional learning now, along with separate efforts by the six professional education organizations to move in this direction. We identify eight reasons why it is important to agree on a core set of competencies across the professions. A concept- interprofessionality- is introduced as the idea that is foundational to the identification of core interprofessional competency domains and the associated specific competencies. Interprofessional education has a dynamic relationship to practice needs and practice improvements. In the concluding background section, we describe three recently developed frameworks that identify interprofessional education as fundamental to practice improvement.

Then, the competency approach to learning is discussed, followed by what distinguishes *interprofessional* competencies. We link our efforts to the five Institute of Medicine (IOM) core competencies for all health professionals (IOM, 2003). The introduction and discussion of the four competency domains and the specific competencies within each form the core of the report. We describe how these competencies can be formulated into learning objectives and learning activities at the pre-licensure/pre-certifying level, and name several factors influencing choice of learning activities. Educators are now beginning to develop more systematic curricular approaches for developing interprofessional competencies. We provide several examples. We conclude the report with discussion of key challenges to interprofessional competency development and acknowledge several limitations to the scope of the report. An appendix describes the goals of the IPEC group that prompted the development of this report, the panel's charge, process and participants.

### Setting the Parameters

Preliminary work to review previously identified interprofessional competencies and related frameworks, along with core background reading on competency development, preceded our face-to-face, initial meeting. Consensus working definitions of interprofessional education and interprofessional collaborative practice were agreed to at that meeting. The need to define the difference between teamwork and team-based care as different aspects of interprofessional collaborative practice, and agreement on competency definitions came later in our work. The definitions we chose for interprofessional education and interprofessional collaborative practice are broad, current, and consistent with language used widely in the international community. Teamwork and team-based care definitions distinguish between core processes and a form of interprofessional care delivery. Competency definitions are consistent with the charge given to the expert panel by the Interprofessional Education Collaborative.

### **Operational Definitions**

### Interprofessional education:

"When students from two or more professions learn about, from and with each other to enable effective collaboration and improve health outcomes" (WHO, 2010)

### Interprofessional collaborative

**practice:** "When multiple health workers from different professional backgrounds work together with patients, families, carers [sic], and communities to deliver the highest quality of care" (WHO, 2010)

### Interprofessional teamwork: The

levels of cooperation, coordination and collaboration characterizing the relationships between professions in delivering patient-centered care

### Interprofessional team-based care:

Care delivered by intentionally created, usually relatively small work groups in health care, who are recognized by others as well as by themselves as having a collective identity and shared responsibility for a patient or group of patients, e.g., rapid response team, palliative care team, primary care team, operating room team

### Professional competencies in health

**care:** Integrated enactment of knowledge, skills, and values/attitudes that define the domains of work of a particular health profession applied in specific care contexts

### Interprofessional competencies in

health care: Integrated enactment of knowledge, skills, and values/attitudes that define working together across the professions, with other health care workers, and with patients, along with families and communities, as appropriate to improve health outcomes in specific care contexts

### Interprofessional competency domain:

A generally identified cluster of more specific interprofessional competencies that are conceptually linked, and serve as theoretical constructs (ten Cate & Scheele, 2007) We agreed that the competency domains and specific competencies should remain general in nature and function as guidelines, allowing flexibility within the professions and at the institutional level. Faculty and administrators could access, share, and build on overall guidelines to strategize and develop a program of study for their profession or institution that is aligned with the general interprofessional competency statements but contextualized to individual professional, clinical, or institutional circumstances. We identified desired principles of the interprofessional competencies:

- Patient/family centered (hereafter termed "patient centered")
- Community/population oriented
- Relationship focused
- Process oriented
- Linked to learning activities, educational strategies, and behavioral assessments that are developmentally appropriate for the learner
- Able to be integrated across the learning continuum
- Sensitive to the systems context/applicable across practice settings
- Applicable across professions
- Stated in language common and meaningful across the professions
- Outcome driven

## Why Interprofessional Competency Development Now?

Why do we need to educate teams for the delivery of health care? Who should be educated to serve on health delivery teams? How should we educate students of health professions in order that they might work in teams (emphasis on classroom and basic behavioral and biological sciences curriculum)? How should we educate students and health professionals in order that they might work in teams (emphasis on clinical training)? What are the requirements for educating health professionals to practice in health care delivery teams? What are the obstacles to educating health professionals to practice in health care delivery teams?

(IOM, 1972, pp. 1-2)

Currently, the transformation of health professions education is attracting widespread interest. The transformation envisioned would enable opportunities for health professions students to engage in interactive learning with those outside their profession as a routine part of their education. The goal of this interprofessional learning is to prepare all health professions students for *deliberatively working together* with the common goal of building a safer and better patient-centered and community/population oriented U.S. health care system.

Interest in promoting more team-based education for U.S. health professions is not new. At the first IOM Conference, "Interrelationships of Educational Programs for Health Professionals," and in the related report "Educating for the Health Team" (IOM, 1972), 120 leaders from allied health, dentistry, medicine, nursing, and pharmacy considered key questions at the forefront of contemporary national discussions about interprofessional education.

The move to encourage team-based education at that time grew out of several assumptions made by that IOM Committee: that there were serious questions about how to use the existing health workforce optimally and cost-effectively to meet patient, family, and community health care needs; that educational institutions had a responsibility not only to produce a healthcare workforce that was responsive to health care needs but also to ensure that they could practice to their full scope of expertise; that optimal use of the health professions workforce required a cooperative effort in the form of teams sharing common goals and incorporating the patient, family, and/or community as a member; that this cooperation would improve care; and that the existing educational system was not preparing health professionals for team work. Almost 40 years later, these issues are still compelling.

The 1972 Conference Steering Committee recommendations were multilevel: organizational, administrative, instructional, and national. At the organizational and instructional levels, they cited the obligation of academic health centers to conduct interdisciplinary education and patient care; to develop methods to link that education with the "practical requirements" of health care; to use clinical settings, especially ambulatory settings, as sites for this education; to integrate classroom instruction in the humanities and the social and behavioral sciences; and to develop new faculty skills in instruction that would present role models of cooperation across the health professions. At the national level, the recommendations called for developing a national "clearinghouse" to share instructional and practice models; providing government agency support for innovative instructional and practice models, as well as examining obstacles to such efforts; and initiating a process in the IOM to foster interdisciplinary education in the health professions. These recommendations have currency today.

The IOM report encouraged funding for educational demonstrations of interdisciplinary professional education in the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), and the effort garnered substantial foundation support. However, such programs remained largely elective, dependent on this external support, and targeted small numbers of students. Several intra- and interprofessional factors limited "mainstreaming" of interprofessional education during this time (Schmitt, Baldwin, & Reeves, forthcoming).

Reports between then and now (e.g., O'Neil & the Pew Health Professions Commission, 1998) have made similar recommendations, and interprofessional care has found traction in numerous specialized areas of health care. However, with the isolation of health professions education from the practice of health care, practice realities have not been sufficient to motivate fundamental health professions' educational changes. Compelling larger-scale practice issues that emerged in the past decade have prompted broad-based support for changes in health professions education, including interactive learning to develop competencies for teamwork and team-based care.

Widespread patient error in U.S. hospitals associated with substantial preventable mortality and morbidity, as well as major quality issues, has revealed the inadequacies in costly systems of care delivery (IOM, 2000, 2001). It is clear that **how** care is delivered is as important as **what** care is delivered. Developing effective teams and redesigned systems is critical to achieving care that is patient-centered, safer, timelier, and more effective, efficient, and equitable (IOM, 2001). Equipping a workforce with new skills and "new ways of relating to patients and each other" (IOM, 2001, p. 19) demands both retraining of the current health professions workforce and interprofessional learning approaches for preparing future health care practitioners.

The focus on workforce retraining to build interprofessional teamwork and teambased care continues, particularly in the context of improving institutional quality (effectiveness) and safety (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2008; Baker et al., 2005a, 2005b; King et al., 2008). Growing evidence supports the importance of better teamwork and team-based care delivery and the competencies needed to provide that kind of care.

The passage of the Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (Steinbrook, 2009) and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2010) has stimulated new approaches, such as the "medical home" concept, to achieving better outcomes in primary care, especially for high-risk chronically ill and other at-risk populations. Improved interprofessional teamwork and team-based care play core roles in many of the new primary care approaches. The idea of primary care and its relationship to the broader context of health is itself being reconsidered. First, in primary care there is a focus on expanded

<sup>©2011</sup> American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health. May be reproduced and distributed according to the terms set forth in this document.

accountability for population management of chronic diseases that links to a community context. Second, health care delivery professionals jointly with public health professionals share roles and responsibilities for addressing health promotion and primary prevention needs related to behavioral change. Third, health care professionals and public health professionals work in collaboration with others on behalf of persons, families and communities in maintaining healthy environments, including responding to public health emergencies. All of these elements link direct health care professionals more closely with their public health colleagues. Therefore, the principles from which we worked included both patientcenteredness and a community/population orientation.

Teamwork training for interprofessional collaborative practice in health professions education has lagged dramatically behind these changes in practice, continually widening the gap between current health professions training and actual practice needs and realities. To spur educational change, after releasing the two reports on safety and quality (IOM, 2000, 2001), the IOM sponsored a second summit on health professions education. Attendees at the summit identified five competencies central to the education of all health professions for the future: provide patient-centered care, apply quality improvement, employ evidence-based practice, utilize informatics, and work in interdisciplinary teams (IOM, 2003). It was noted that many successful examples of interprofessional education exist but that "interdisciplinary education has yet to become the norm in health professions education" (IOM, 2003, p. 79).

Recognizing that health professions schools bear the primary responsibility for developing these core competencies, considerable emphasis also was placed on better coordinated oversight processes (accreditation, licensure, and certification) and continuing education to ensure the development, demonstration, and maintenance of the core competencies. The report indicated that although the *accrediting* standards of most professions reviewed contained content about interdisciplinary teams, few of these were outcomes-based competency expectations.

### Interprofessional education, by profession

Policy, curricular, and/or accreditation changes to strengthen teamwork preparation are at various stages of development among the six professions represented in this report. The American Association of Colleges of Nursing, for example, has integrated interprofessional collaboration behavioral expectations into its "Essentials" for baccalaureate (2008) master's (2011) and doctoral education for advanced practice (2006). Leaders within nursing have drawn from the IOM framework of the five core competencies for all health professionals to compose pre-licensure and graduate-level competency statements geared toward quality and safety outcomes, which integrate teamwork and team-based competencies (Cronenwett et al., 2007, 2009).

The Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) formally identified interprofessional education as one of two "horizon" issues for action in 2008, although calls for attention to interprofessional education can be traced back through a series of AAMC reports, including its landmark 1965 Coggeshall Report. An initial survey was conducted of interprofessional education in U.S. medical schools in 2008 and serves as a current benchmark (Blue, Zoller, Stratton, Elam, & Gilbert, 2010). The Accreditation Council on Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) Outcomes Project is being used as a competency guide by many undergraduate programs in medicine. It incorporates general competencies of professionalism, interpersonal and communication skills, and systems-based practice, along with an expectation that residents are able to work effectively as members or leaders of health care teams or other professional groups, and to work in interprofessional teams to enhance patient safety and care quality (ACGME, 2011). Analysis of data from a 2009 ACGME multispecialty resident survey showed that formal team training experiences with non-physicians was significantly related to greater resident satisfaction with learning and overall training experiences, as well as to less depression, anxiety, and sleepiness, and to fewer reports by residents of having made a serious medical error (Baldwin, 2010). Pilot work is ongoing by the American Board of Internal Medicine to evaluate hospitalist teamwork skills (Chesluk, 2010).

Dentistry has been developing competencies for the new general dentist. Among those competencies is "participate with dental team members and other health care professionals in the management and health promotion for all patients" (American Dental Education Association, 2008). Interprofessional education has been identified as a critical issue in dental education. Authors of a position paper have explored the rationale for interprofessional education in general dentistry and the leadership role of academic dentistry and organized dentistry in this area (Wilder et al., 2008). Accreditation standards for dental education programs adopted in August 2010 for implementation in 2013 contain language promoting collaboration with other health professionals (Commission on Dental Accreditation, 2010).

National pharmacy education leaders completed intensive study of interprofessional education and its relevance to pharmacy education (Buring et al., 2009). Curricular guidance documents (American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, 2004), a vision statement for pharmacy practice in 2015 (Maine, 2005), and accreditation requirements (Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education, 2011) now incorporate consistent language. Phrases such as "provide patient care in cooperation with patients, prescribers, and other members of an interprofessional health care team," "manage and use resources in cooperation with patients, prescribers, other health care providers, and administrative and supportive personnel," and "promote health improvement, wellness, and disease prevention in cooperation with patients, communities, at-risk populations, and other members of an interprofessional team of health care providers" appear throughout those documents.

©2011 American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health. May be reproduced and distributed according to the terms set forth in this document.

Enhancing the public's access to oral health care and the connection of oral health to general health form a nexus that links oral health providers to colleagues in other health professions.

(Commission on Dental Accreditation, 2010, p. 12)

The Association of Schools of Public Health (ASPH) recently released draft undergraduate learning outcomes relevant to all two- and four-year institutions. The most explicit of the four learning outcomes relevant to interprofessional education is: "Engage in collaborative and interdisciplinary approaches and teamwork for improving population health" (Association of Schools of Public Health, 2011, p. 5-6). At the master's level, 10 competencies create opportunities related to interprofessional education (Association of Schools of Public Health, 2006).

Interprofessional education has received some attention in the osteopathic medical literature (e.g., Singla, G. MacKinnon, K. MacKinnon, Younis, & Field, 2004). An exploratory analysis of the relationship between the principles of osteopathic medicine and interprofessional education is in press, as part of a description of a three-phase interprofessional education program underway involving one osteopathic medical school and eight other health professional competencies developed for this program at Western University of Health Sciences anticipated the development of the expert panel's work.

These educational changes suggest individual health professions' movement toward incorporating competency expectations for interprofessional collaborative practice. However, the need remains to identify, agree on, and strengthen core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice across the professions.

Core competencies are needed in order to:

- 1) create a coordinated effort across the health professions to embed essential content in all health professions education curricula,
- 2) guide professional and institutional curricular development of learning approaches and assessment strategies to achieve productive outcomes,
- provide the foundation for a learning continuum in interprofessional competency development across the professions and the lifelong learning trajectory,
- 4) acknowledge that evaluation and research work will strengthen the scholarship in this area,
- prompt dialogue to evaluate the "fit" between educationally identified core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice and practice needs/ demands,

©2011 American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health. May be reproduced and distributed according to the terms set forth in this document.

Many of our [osteopathic medical] colleges are moving into IPE with major initiatives, taking advantage of the environments offered by their colleagues in the other health professions within their universities or affiliates... ?

(Shannon, 2011)

- 6) find opportunities to integrate essential interprofessional education content consistent with current accreditation expectations for each health professions education program (see University of Minnesota, Academic Health Center, Office of Education, 2009),
- 7) offer information to accreditors of educational programs across the health professions that they can use to set common accreditation standards for interprofessional education, and to know where to look in institutional settings for examples of implementation of those standards (see Accreditation of Interprofessional Health Education: Principles and practices, 2009; and Accreditation of Interprofessional Health Education: National Forum, 2009), and
- 8) inform professional licensing and credentialing bodies in defining potential testing content for interprofessional collaborative practice.

Clear development of core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice requires a unifying concept. D'Amour and Oandasan (2005) delineated the concept of interprofessionality as part of the background work for initiatives by Health Canada to foster interprofessional education and interprofessional collaborative practice. They defined *interprofessionality* as

"the process by which professionals reflect on and develop ways of practicing that provides an integrated and cohesive answer to the needs of the client/family/population... [I]t involves continuous interaction and knowledge sharing between professionals, organized to solve or explore a variety of education and care issues all while seeking to optimize the patient's participation... Interprofessionality requires a paradigm shift, since interprofessional practice has unique characteristics in terms of values, codes of conduct, and ways of working. These characteristics must be elucidated" (p. 9).

The competency domains and specific competencies associated with them identified in this report represent our efforts to define those characteristics.

## The Concept of Interprofessionality

## Frameworks Reflective of the Interdependence between Health Professions' Education and Practice Needs

Change professional training to meet the demands of the new health care system.

(O'Neil & the Pew Health Professions Commission, 1998, p. 25) Until recently, no framework captured the interdependence between health professions' education competency development for collaborative practice and practice needs. Three frameworks now capture this interdependency, two of which arose specifically from an interprofessional context. D'Amour and Oandasan (2005) constructed a detailed graphic to illustrate interdependencies between health professional education and interprofessional collaborative practice, in the service of patient needs and community-oriented care [see figure 1].

# FIGURE 1: Interprofessionality as the field of interprofessional practice and interprofessional education: An emerging concept.



## Reprinted with permission from D'Amour, D. & Oandasan, I. (2005). Interprofessionality as the field of interprofessional practice and interprofessional education: An emerging concept. Journal of Interprofessional Care, Supplement 1, 8-20.

The WHO Study Group on Interprofessional Education and Collaborative Practice developed a global Framework for Action on Interprofessional Education and Collaborative Practice (WHO, 2010) and a graphic that shows the goal of interprofessional education as preparation of a "collaborative practice-ready" work force, driven by local health needs and local health systems designed to respond to those needs [see figure 2].



## FIGURE 2: Framework for Action on Interprofessional Education & Collaborative Practice

Reprinted with permission from: World Health Organization (WHO). (2010). Framework for Action on Interprofessional Education & Collaborative Practice. Geneva: World Health Organization.

The WHO Framework highlights curricular and educator mechanisms that help interprofessional education succeed, as well as institutional support, working culture, and environmental elements that drive collaborative practice. The framework incorporates actions that leaders and policymakers can take to bolster interprofessional education and interprofessional collaborative practice for the improvement of health care. At the national level, positive health professions education and health systems actions are pointed to that could synergistically drive more integrated health workforce planning and policymaking.

Recently, the Commission on Education of Health Professionals for the 21st Century (Frenk et al., 2010) published an analysis of the disjunctions between traditional health professions education and global health and health workforce

needs. Working from ideas of global social accountability and social equity, the commission proposed a series of recommendations to reform health professions education to prepare a global health workforce that is more responsive to actual population and personal health needs adapted to local contexts. A graphic depicts these interrelationships [see figure 3]. An important aspect of this report is the strong integration of public health preparation in the education of future heath care professionals. The "promotion of interprofessional and transprofessional education that breaks down professional silos while enhancing collaborative and non-hierarchical relationships in effective teams" (Frenk et al., p. 1,951) is one of 10 recommendations by the commission for preparing future health professionals to more adequately address global health needs and strengthen health systems.

## FIGURE 3: Health professionals for a new century: Transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world



Reprinted with permission from Frenk, J., Chen, L., Bhutta, Z.A., Cohen, J., Crisp, N., Evans, T. et al. (2010). Health professionals for a new century: Transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. The Lancet, 376 (9756), 1923-1958.

Developers of these three frameworks target interprofessional education as a means of improving patient-centered and community-/population-oriented care. They situate interprofessional education and health professions education, in general, in a dynamic relationship with health care systems that are more responsive to the health needs of the populations they are designed to serve.

## The Competency Approach to Health Professions Education and Interprofessional Learning

Competency-based approaches to interprofessional education have developed in parallel to competency-based approaches within the health professions. These have emerged in response to the limitations of learning outcomes related to knowledgeand attitude-based methods (Barr, 1998).

Appendix 1 of the National Interprofessional Competency Framework for Canada provides an excellent summary of four different competency-based approaches, applied to interprofessional education competencies (Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative [CIHC], 2010), drawing on the work of Roegiers (2007). The CIHC adopted the integrated framework advocated by Peyser, Gerard, and Roegiers (2006), which emphasizes not only the competency outcomes themselves but also the educational processes that integrate knowledge, skills, attitudes, and values in the demonstration of competencies. The dual charge from IPEC to the expert panel to "recommend a common core set of competencies relevant across the professions to address the essential preparation of clinicians for interprofessional collaborative practice" and to "recommend learning experiences and educational strategies for achieving the competencies and related objectives" is consistent with an integrated approach to interprofessional education competency development and assessment. From a pre-licensure perspective, a core interprofessional competency approach emphasizes essential behavioral combinations of knowledge, skills, attitudes, and values that make up a "collaborative practice-ready" graduate (WHO, 2010).

## Interprofessional Competencies

It is no longer enough for health workers to be professional. In the current global climate, health workers also need to be interprofessional.

(WHO, 2010, p. 36)

Barr (1998) distinguished between types of competence from an interprofessional perspective [see figure 4]. According to Barr, "common" or overlapping competencies are those expected of all health professionals. It may be more helpful to think in terms of competencies that are common or overlapping more than **one health profession** but not necessarily **all** health professions. This can be the source of interprofessional tensions, such as in the debate about overlapping competencies between primary care physicians and nurse practitioners. The overlap may be a strategy to extend the reach of a health profession whose practitioners are inaccessible for various reasons. For example, a policy statement has called attention to the preventive oral health care role of pediatricians in primary care (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2008); and dental programs recognize that a dentist may be the "first line of defense" for not only oral but also some systemic diseases (Wilder et al., 2008). "Complementary" competencies enhance the qualities of other professions in providing care. Thus, while in this example dentists and pediatricians identify useful overlap in their roles consistent with their scope of practice, dentists and pediatricians mostly have complementary expertise. "Collaborative" competencies are those that each profession needs to work together with others, such as other specialties within a profession, between professions, with patients and families, with non-professionals and volunteers, within and between organizations, within communities, and at a broader policy level. Interprofessional collaborative competencies are the focus of this report.

### FIGURE 4: Barr's (1998) three types of professional competencies



## Developing Interprofessional Education Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice in the U.S.

Our report examines the further development of the core competency—work in interdisciplinary teams—identified in the 2003 IOM report. Although the IOM report named the key processes of communication, cooperation, coordination, and collaboration in teamwork, the interprofessional competencies that underpin these processes were not defined. Also important to the elaboration of teamwork competencies are the interrelationships with the other four IOM core competencies (see Figure 5). Provision of *patient-centered care* is the goal of interprofessional teamwork. The nature of the relationship between the patient and the team of health professionals is central to competency development for interprofessional collaborative practice. Without this kind of centeredness, interprofessional teamwork has little rationale. The other three core competencies, *in the context of interprofessional teamwork*, identify 21st-century technologies for teamwork communication and coordination (i.e., informatics), rely on the evidence base to inform teamwork processes and team-based care, and highlight the importance of continuous improvement efforts related to teamwork and team-based health care.

### FIGURE 5: Interprofessional Teamwork and IOM CORE COMPETENCIES



## Core Competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice

National and international efforts prior to this one have informed the identification of interprofessional competency domains in this report (Buring et al., 2009; CIHC, 2010; Cronenwett et al., 2007, 2009; Health Resources and Services Administration/Bureau of Health Professions, 2010; Interprofessional Education Team, 2010; O'Halloran, Hean, Humphris, & McLeod-Clark, 2006; Thistlethwaite & Moran, 2010; University of British Columbia College of Health Disciplines, 2008; University of Toronto, 2008; Walsh et al., 2005). A number of U.S. universities who had begun to define core interprofessional competencies shared information on their efforts to define competency domains. [A list of universities is included at the end of the report.]

Although the number of competency domains and their categorization vary, we found convergence in interprofessional competency content between the national literature and global literature, among health professions organizations in the United States, and across American educational institutions. Interprofessional competency domains we identified are consistent with this content. In this report, we identify four interprofessional competency domains, each containing a set of more specific competency statements, which are summarized in the following graphic [see figure 6].

### **FIGURE 6: Interprofessional Collaborative Practice Domains**



The Learning Continuum pre-licensure through practice trajectory

## Interprofessional Collaborative Practice Competency Domains

Competency Domain 1:	Values/Ethics for Interprofessional Practice
Competency Domain 2:	Roles/Responsibilities
Competency Domain 3:	Interprofessional Communication
Competency Domain 4:	Teams and Teamwork

Competency Domain 1: Values/Ethics for Interprofessional Practice **Background and Rationale:** Interprofessional values and related ethics are an important, new part of crafting a professional identity, one that is both professional and interprofessional in nature. These values and ethics are patient centered with a community/population orientation, grounded in a sense of shared purpose to support the common good in health care, and reflect a shared commitment to creating safer, more efficient, and more effective systems of care. They build on a separate, profession-specific, core competency in patient-centeredness. Without persons who are sometimes patients and their families as partners in the team effort, the best interprofessional teamwork is without rationale. Teamwork adds value by bringing about patient/family and community/population outcomes that promote overall health and wellness, prevent illness, provide comprehensive care for disease, rehabilitate patients, and facilitate effective care during the last stages of life, at an affordable cost.

Health professions educators typically consider values and ethics content an element of professionalism, which has significant overlap with constructs of humanism and morality (Baldwin, 2006). "Old" approaches to professionalism have been criticized as being self-serving and are seen as creating barriers between the professions and impeding the improvement of health care (Berwick, Davidoff, Hiatt & Smith, 2001; IOM, 2001; McNair, 2005). "New" approaches are oriented toward helping health professions students develop and express values that are the hallmark of public trust, meaning the "other side" of professionalism (Blank, Kimball, McDonald & Merino, 2003; McNair, 2005). These values become a core part of one's professional identity, and Dombeck (1997) has labeled the moral agency associated with that identity as "professional personhood." However, the "new" professionalism in health professions education needs further development in the context of interprofessional collaborative practice, leading to several different approaches.

The **first** is a "virtues in common" approach (McNair, 2005) that draws on the work of Stern (2006) and others and is represented by the Interprofessional Professionalism Collaborative. The group defines "interprofessional professionalism" as

"Consistent demonstration of core values evidenced by professionals working together, aspiring to and wisely applying principles of altruism, excellence, caring, ethics, respect, communication, [and] accountability to achieve optimal health and wellness in individuals and communities" (Interprofessional Professionalism Collaborative, 2010).

A **second** approach suggests ethical principles for everybody in health care to hold in common, recognizing the multidisciplinary nature of health delivery systems. This approach has been developed by the Tavistock group (Berwick et al., 2001), which noted that the problems of health systems are fundamentally ethical. The principles consider health and health care a right. They support

balance in the distribution of resources for health to both individuals and populations; comprehensiveness of care; responsibility for continuous efforts to improve care; safety of care; openness in care delivery; and cooperation with those who receive care, among those who deliver care, and with others outside direct health care delivery. Cooperation is seen as the central principle.

A **third** approach, and the one adopted for this expert panel report, focuses on the values that should undergird *relationships* among the professions, joint relationships with patients, the quality of cross-professional exchanges, and interprofessional ethical considerations in delivering health care and in formulating public health policies, programs, and services.

Mutual respect and trust are foundational to effective interprofessional working relationships for collaborative care delivery across the health professions. At the same time, collaborative care honors the diversity that is reflected in the individual expertise each profession brings to care delivery. Gittell captured this link between interprofessional values and effective care coordination when she described the nature of relational coordination in health care: "Even timely, accurate information may not be heard or acted upon if the recipient does not respect the source" ((2009, p. 16).

Interprofessional ethics is an emerging aspect of this domain. This literature explores the extent to which traditional professional values, ethics, and codes need to be rethought and re-imagined as part of interprofessional collaborative practice. A common example has to do with the confidentiality of the practitioner-patient relationship in team-based care delivery. Important discussions are emerging in this area (Banks et al., 2010; Clark, Cott & Drinka, 2007; Schmitt & Stewart, 2011).

This competency domain is variously represented in other interprofessional competency frameworks. A key difference is whether values are integrated into other competencies as the attitude/value dimension of those competencies (e.g., QSEN competencies in nursing, Cronenwett et al., 2007, 2009 and A National Interprofessional Competency Framework-CIHC, 2010) or represented as a separate competency (e.g., University of Toronto IPE Curriculum, University of Toronto, 2008). The fact that each health profession has educational and accreditation requirements around professionalism creates an opportunity for curricular integration of interprofessional competencies related to values and ethics (University of Minnesota, Academic Health Center, Office of Education, 2009), as well as the opportunity for accreditors to evaluate their presence and update requirements around professionalism to explicitly incorporate interprofessional values and ethics.

General Competency Statement-VE. Work with individuals of other professions to maintain a climate of mutual respect and shared values.

Specific Values/Ethics Competencies:

- VE1. Place the interests of patients and populations at the center of interprofessional health care delivery.
- VE2. Respect the dignity and privacy of patients while maintaining confidentiality in the delivery of team-based care.
- VE3. Embrace the cultural diversity and individual differences that characterize patients, populations, and the health care team.
- VE4. Respect the unique cultures, values, roles/responsibilities, and expertise of other health professions.
- VE5. Work in cooperation with those who receive care, those who provide care, and others who contribute to or support the delivery of prevention and health services.
- VE6. Develop a trusting relationship with patients, families, and other team members (CIHC, 2010).
- VE7. Demonstrate high standards of ethical conduct and quality of care in one's contributions to team-based care.
- VE8. Manage ethical dilemmas specific to interprofessional patient/ population centered care situations.
- VE9. Act with honesty and integrity in relationships with patients, families, and other team members.
- VE10. Maintain competence in one's own profession appropriate to scope of practice.

©2011 American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health. May be reproduced and distributed according to the terms set forth in this document.

We all have a moral obligation to work together to improve care for patients.

(Pronovost & Vohr, 2010, p. 137)

## Competency Domain 2: Roles/Responsibilities

**Background and Rationale:** Learning to be interprofessional requires an understanding of how professional roles and responsibilities complement each other in patient-centered and community/population oriented care. "Front line" health professionals (Suter et al., 2009) have identified being able to clearly describe one's own professional role and responsibilities to team members of other professions and understand others' roles and responsibilities in relation to one's own role as a core competency domain for collaborative practice. This domain is an explicit feature in most interprofessional competency frameworks (Thistlethwaite & Moran, 2010; WHO, 2010; CIHC, 2010; Cronenwett et al., 2007; University of Toronto, 2010).

"Variety diversity"—or categorical differences among team members—presents both a resource and a problem for teamwork in health care (Edmondson & Roloff, 2009). Diversity of expertise underpins the idea of effective teams. Diversity of background or cultural characteristics also adds to teamwork resources. Yet, stereotyping, both positive and negative, related to professional roles and demographic/cultural differences affect the health professions (Hean, in press). These stereotypes help create ideas about a profession's worth known as "disparity diversity" (Edmondson & Roloff), eroding mutual respect. Inaccurate perceptions about diversity prevent professions from taking advantage of the full scope of abilities that working together offers to improve health care.

The need to address complex health promotion and illness problems, in the context of complex care delivery systems and community factors, calls for recognizing the limits of professional expertise, and the need for cooperation, coordination, and collaboration across the professions in order to promote health and treat illness. However, effective coordination and collaboration can occur only when each profession knows and uses the others' expertise and capabilities in a patientcentered way.

Each profession's roles and responsibilities vary within legal boundaries; actual roles and responsibilities change depending on the specific care situation. Professionals may find it challenging to communicate their own role and responsibilities to others. For example, Lamb et al. (2008) discovered that staff nurses had no language to describe the key care coordination activities they performed in hospitals. Being able to explain what other professionals' roles and responsibilities are and how they complement one's own is more difficult when individual roles cannot be clearly articulated. Safe and effective care demands crisply defined roles and responsibilities.

Team members' individual expertise can limit productive teamwork across the professions. Collaborative practice depends on maintaining expertise through continued learning and through refining and improving the roles and responsibilities of those working together.

General Competency Statement-RR. Use the knowledge of one's own role and those of other professions to appropriately assess and address the healthcare needs of the patients and populations served.

### Specific Roles/Responsibilities Competencies:

- RR1. Communicate one's roles and responsibilities clearly to patients, families, and other professionals.
- RR2. Recognize one's limitations in skills, knowledge, and abilities.
- RR3. Engage diverse healthcare professionals who complement one's own professional expertise, as well as associated resources, to develop strategies to meet specific patient care needs.
- **RR4.** Explain the roles and responsibilities of other care providers and how the team works together to provide care.
- RR5. Use the full scope of knowledge, skills, and abilities of available health professionals and healthcare workers to provide care that is safe, timely, efficient, effective, and equitable.
- RR6. Communicate with team members to clarify each member's responsibility in executing components of a treatment plan or public health intervention.
- **RR7.** Forge interdependent relationships with other professions to improve care and advance learning.
- **RR8.** Engage in continuous professional and interprofessional development to enhance team performance.
- RR9. Use unique and complementary abilities of all members of the team to optimize patient care.

©2011 American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health. May be reproduced and distributed according to the terms set forth in this document.

f f ...teamwork requires a shared acknowledgement of each participating member's roles and abilities. Without this acknowledgement, adverse outcomes may arise from a series of seemingly trivial errors that effective teamwork could have prevented.

(Baker et al., 2005b, p. 14)

### Competency Domain 3: Interprofessional Communication

When I was in medical school I spent hundreds of hours looking into a microscope—a skill I never needed to know or ever use. Yet, I didn't have a single class that taught me communication and teamwork skills something I need every day I walk into the hospital.

(Pronovost & Vohr, 2010, p. 46)

**Background and Rationale:** In Suter et al.'s (2009) study, front-line health professionals identified communication as the second core competency domain, and in most competency frameworks communication is considered a core aspect of interprofessional collaborative practice. Developing basic communication skills is a common area for health professions education (e.g., AAMC, 1999), but health professions students often have little knowledge about or experience with interprofessional communication. More than a decade ago, an AAMC report on communication in medicine acknowledged the importance of being able to communicate effectively with "other members of the healthcare team, given the movement toward better integrated care" (AAMC, 1999, p. 6).

Communication competencies help professionals prepare for collaborative practice. Communicating a readiness to work together initiates an effective interprofessional collaboration. In a qualitative study of nurses' and resident physicians' definitions of collaboration (Baggs & Schmitt, 1997), respondents cited the ways in which health professionals communicate a readiness to work together. They named being available in place, time, and knowledge, as well as being receptive through displaying interest, engaging in active listening, conveying openness, and being willing to discuss as elements indicating readiness.

Using professional jargon creates a barrier to effective interprofessional care. A common language for team communication is a core aspect of the TeamSTEPPS team training program, which endorses practices such as SBAR, call-out, and check-back, whose aim is communication that is clearly understood (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, n.d.).

An important part of language is literacy, both general reading literacy and health literacy. Both play a part in teamwork and patient-centered care. Presenting information that other team members and patients/families can understand contributes to safe and effective interprofessional care.

One of the five IOM core competencies (IOM, 2003) is the ability to use informatics. Teamwork and team-based competency for better patient-centered care requires mastery of numerous new communication technologies.

Professional hierarchies created by demographic and professional differences are common but create dysfunctional communication patterns working against effective interprofessional teamwork. Further, considerable literature related to safe care now focuses on overcoming such communication patterns by placing responsibility on all team members to speak up in a firm but respectful way when they have concerns about the quality or safety of care. However, these communication patterns keep professionals from sharing their expertise across professional lines more generally. Learning to give and receive timely, sensitive, and instructive feedback with confidence helps health professionals improve their teamwork and team-based care.

Learning to work together to communicate and manage emotionally difficult information with patients and families, such as end-of-life information, or error disclosures requires openness, understanding, and an ability to convey messages in a sensitive and respectful manner.

General Competency Statement-CC. Communicate with patients, families, communities, and other health professionals in a responsive and responsible manner that supports a team approach to the maintenance of health and the treatment of disease.

### Specific Interprofessional Communication Competencies:

- CC1. Choose effective communication tools and techniques, including information systems and communication technologies, to facilitate discussions and interactions that enhance team function.
- CC2. Organize and communicate information with patients, families, and healthcare team members in a form that is understandable, avoiding discipline-specific terminology when possible.
- CC3. Express one's knowledge and opinions to team members involved in patient care with confidence, clarity, and respect, working to ensure common understanding of information and treatment and care decisions.
- CC4. Listen actively, and encourage ideas and opinions of other team members.
- CC5. Give timely, sensitive, instructive feedback to others about their performance on the team, responding respectfully as a team member to feedback from others.
- CC6. Use respectful language appropriate for a given difficult situation, crucial conversation, or interprofessional conflict.
- CC7. Recognize how one's own uniqueness, including experience level, expertise, culture, power, and hierarchy within the healthcare team, contributes to effective communication, conflict resolution, and positive interprofessional working relationships (University of Toronto, 2008).
- CC8. Communicate consistently the importance of teamwork in patientcentered and community-focused care.

©2011 American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health. May be reproduced and distributed according to the terms set forth in this document.

Communicating refers to aspects of openness, style, and expression of feelings and thoughts. These communications are directed specifically at modifying teamwork aspects. Team-related communications exploit opportunities that influence team interactions, organization, and functioning.

## Competency Domain 4: Teams and Teamwork

An essential component of patient-centered primary care practice is interprofessional teamwork. High-functioning teams require collaboration between physicians, nurses, pharmacists, social workers, clinical psychologists, case managers, medical assistants, and clinical administrators...

> (Department of Veterans Affairs, August 26, 2010, p. 2)

**Background and Rationale:** Learning to be interprofessional means learning to be a good team player. Teamwork behaviors apply in any setting where health professionals interact on behalf of shared goals for care with patients or communities. Teamwork behaviors involve cooperating in the patient-centered delivery of care; coordinating one's care with other health professionals so that gaps, redundancies, and errors are avoided; and collaborating with others through shared problem-solving and shared decision making, especially in circumstances of uncertainty. These processes reflect increasing levels of interdependence among those embedded in teams, in microsystems like hospital units, or in and between organizations and communities.

Learning to work in teams entails becoming a part of a small and complex system that is organized to share the care of a person or a population. Involvement as a team member is based on the value of the professional expertise added that can contribute to the outcomes of care in specific situations. Understanding how team developmental processes can affect team members, overall team functioning, and outcomes of team-based care is an important part of being an effective team member.

A potential source of conflict among team members is the diversity of their expertise areas and professional abilities. Conflicts may arise over leadership, especially when status or power is confused with authority based on professional expertise. Whatever the source, staying focused on patient-centered goals and dealing with the conflict openly and constructively through effective interprofessional communication and shared problem-solving strengthen the ability to work together and create a more effective team.

Strong leaders in team-based care want to satisfy patient and community needs, and they value all team members' potential contributions in meeting those needs. Leaders interact with team members in ways that draw out potential contributions and build support for working together through an understanding of the dynamics of the team (Zaccaro, Heinen, & Shuffler, 2009).

Working in teams involves sharing one's expertise and relinquishing some professional autonomy to work closely with others, including patients and communities, to achieve better outcomes. Shared accountability, shared problemsolving, and shared decision are characteristics of collaborative teamwork and working effectively in teams. Valuing working with others to deliver patientcentered care that is community/ population-oriented, being clear about one's own and others' roles and responsibilities, and practicing interprofessional communication contribute importantly to teamwork behaviors and effective team functioning.

Quality improvement tools can improve teamwork processes and aid in the design and functioning of team-based care to enhance outcomes for patients and communities. How to improve teamwork behaviors, understanding how teams

<sup>©2011</sup> American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health. May be reproduced and distributed according to the terms set forth in this document.

As preparation for collaborative practice, the interprofessional education of teams is seen as a key implementation strategy for certain phases of the Healthy People 2020 Education for Health framework"... interprofessional education with an emphasis on prevention will not only greatly assist with achieving the Healthy People objectives ...but also help prepare the next generation of health professionals to better address preventable health problems.

(Evans, Cashman, Page, & Garr, 2011)

work, and determining what makes teams effective are rich areas of research (e.g., Salas, Goodwin, & Burke, 2009) that are expanding the evidence base. As this evidence develops it can be used to inform more effective teamwork and teambased care.

General Competency Statement-TT. Apply relationship-building values and the principles of team dynamics to perform effectively in different team roles to plan and deliver patient-/population-centered care that is safe, timely, efficient, effective, and equitable.

Specific Team and Teamwork Competencies:

- TT1. Describe the process of team development and the roles and practices of effective teams.
- TT2. Develop consensus on the ethical principles to guide all aspects of patient care and team work.
- TT3. Engage other health professionals—appropriate to the specific care situation—in shared patient-centered problem-solving.
- TT4. Integrate the knowledge and experience of other professions appropriate to the specific care situation—to inform care decisions, while respecting patient and community values and priorities/ preferences for care.
- TT5. Apply leadership practices that support collaborative practice and team effectiveness.
- TT6. Engage self and others to constructively manage disagreements about values, roles, goals, and actions that arise among healthcare professionals and with patients and families.
- TT7. Share accountability with other professions, patients, and communities for outcomes relevant to prevention and health care.
- TT8. Reflect on individual and team performance for individual, as well as team, performance improvement.
- TT9. Use process improvement strategies to increase the effectiveness of interprofessional teamwork and team-based care.
- TT10. Use available evidence to inform effective teamwork and team-based practices.
- TT11. Perform effectively on teams and in different team roles in a variety of settings.

## Competencies, Learning Objectives and Learning Activities

Competencies can be operationalized and assessed by linking them with professional activities.

(ten Cate, 2005, p. 1176)

The individual competencies we have identified under the four core competency domains can be thought of as behavioral learning objectives to be achieved by the end of pre-licensure or pre-certification education. They are linked to learning activities and assessments of the effectiveness of those activities in achieving the objectives.

For example, the University of Virginia identified five core interprofessional competencies: communication, professionalism, shared problem-solving, shared decision making, and conflict resolution. They have written four learning objectives for each of these competencies that have parallels to our individual competency statements. For their core competency of professionalism, for example, a learning objective is "to display interest, trust, and mutual respect across the professions" (University of Virginia, n.d.). When educators began the development of their interprofessional curriculum, they asked faculty to identify the learning activities they already provided that addressed this and other interprofessional learning objectives, and whether/how they assessed their achievement. They began to build the interprofessional learning program from this identified base of activities.

A similar approach was taken in illustrating example learning objectives for meeting the five IOM core competencies within pharmacy. For the topic of "interprofessional team roles and responsibilities and professionalism" sample learning objectives were: "Describe individual roles and responsibilities" and "demonstrate consensus building within a team" (Buring et al., 2009). Learning objectives can focus on knowledge, skills, and values/attitudes that are thought to lead to competency in a staged way.

A great variety of activities developed explicitly for interprofessional learning are being used, but may not have been linked explicitly to achievement of interprofessional competencies. Other activities, such as international learning experiences, are almost always interprofessional, but typically have not been viewed through this lens. Opportunities to exploit existing learning experiences for learning interprofessional competencies, such as students from different professions being co-located in the same clinical setting at the same time, often have not been pursued.

In many instances, interprofessional learning activities are still aimed primarily at *exposure* to students from other professions. Educators assess interprofessional experiences at the level of learner reactions, attitudes and perceptions, knowledge or skill. Modifying a framework from Kirkpatrick (1967), Barr, Koppel, Reeves, Hammick & Freeth (2005) documented a predominance of positive learning outcomes of these types in the 107 studies that met the team's quality criteria. Mainly "college-led" activities produced these results, which suggest that some of the elements that make up competency development can be achieved in educational settings. Learner behavior change, the primary goal of competency development, occurred less frequently but followed from both college and service-

led learning. Organizational change and clinical outcomes were more commonly associated with practice-based interprofessional learning by practitioners. These data convey the importance of student learning in the clinical setting for practical learning, practice change, and patient-centered outcomes. They reinforce the value of purposive engagement between education and practice for building competency, as this report emphasizes.

Much remains to be understood about the optimum ways to assist students to learn interprofessional competencies. How particular activities nurture the values, knowledge or skills that undergird one or more of these competencies needs to be made explicit. A critical aspect involves the choice of learning pedagogies. A variety of adult learning characteristics are relevant including active (versus passive) learning, self-directed (versus faculty-directed) learning, and situated (versus classroom) learning. Recommendations for rethinking pedagogies used in undergraduate medical education toward more active, clinically integrated and developmentally progressive learning (Cooke, Irby & O'Brien, 2010) are also key to *interprofessional* learning.

Other factors play a part in design as well. One is appropriateness for the stage of pre-licensure/pre-credentialing professional education: early in education versus late in education, pre or non-clinical versus clinical, for example. Certain activities lend themselves to learning that can incorporate students at different stages simultaneously. Faculty should contemplate some additional questions: Are the activities individually oriented or population-based? Do they contribute to learning in a variety of clinical and community settings? Do they foster engagement with students from other professions? Are they short- term or longitudinal activities? Is the activity required or elective learning? Is the learning provided in separate courses or as "threads" in the curriculum? Are the students given flexibility of learning choices or expected to follow a rigid structure to achieve interprofessional competencies?

The relevance of the learning activities to the real and changing world of interprofessional collaborative practice will ultimately determine how useful the experiences are to students as they move forward in their careers.

New educational technologies such as online learning, distance technologies, networking innovations, and simulation approaches are overcoming traditional barriers to interprofessional learning related to time and space (Weinstein et al., 2010). Use of these learning technologies can help model the real world of practice, especially in communities, where teamwork often happens asynchronously across time and space. For example, Western University of Health Sciences plans to experiment with asynchronous, community-based approaches to interprofessional learning in the third phase of their new interprofessional education program to be piloted in the next academic year (Aston, 2011).

## Learning Activities, Examples

The design and implementation of interprofessional learning activities in the U.S. is exploding and there are many, many excellent examples of these activities that could have been chosen as illustrations. It is also the case that there is a low level of awareness and a lack of a "clearinghouse" at a national level for sharing information on the design, implementation and assessment of these interprofessional learning activities.

**Example A.** The Jefferson Health Mentors Program is a two-year longitudinal interprofessional learning experience required early in the program of study in which student teams from medicine, nursing, pharmacy, physical therapy, occupational therapy, or couples and family therapy are paired with a Health Mentor, usually an older adult with one or more chronic illnesses living in the community, as their teacher. The overarching learning objectives are that 1) students will understand the roles of their colleagues and be prepared to function as members of effective health care teams and 2) students will understand the point of view of individuals with chronic conditions and be prepared to provide patient-and family-centered care. From an interprofessional competency perspective, the program is clearly patient-centered with a community orientation, focuses on the understanding of the unique role of each profession in a teambased approach, and incorporates cultural competency, communication, and teambuilding exercises, with special emphasis given to working as part of a team.

The eight-module program for over 1,000 students in nested in existing health professions course shells, employs a combination of didactic and active, experiential learning, and uses reflective writing, team-based case studies, and faculty-facilitated team-based debriefings of experiences to solidify learning. The program has a rigorous assessment plan around the two core objectives (Collins et al., 2009).

**Example B.** The University of Washington is developing exportable educational programs to help students learn effective interprofessional communication. One focus of that training is interprofessional error disclosure. The training employs a combination of didactic presentations, role modeling demonstration of a clinical scenario using a standardized patient by an interprofessional group of faculty, and practice learning using simulation methods. Students from medicine, nursing, pharmacy, and dentistry are exposed to evidence-based information concerning the value of openness and honesty with patients and families when an error resulting in harm has occurred in their care, and instructed in the types of communication messages that patients expect to receive, including apologies. Students reflect on the scenario, including attending to the feelings associated with this difficult conversation. Then, interprofessional groups of students practice conducting an error disclosure in a simulation case scenario to immerse them in practical learning. During that scenario they may identify how their professions may be involved in creating safer environments to avoid such an error in the future. This exercise was completed by nearly 500 students in an All Professions Training Day (Gray, 2011).

This example is full of opportunities for evaluating specific behavioral learning objectives/competencies, especially around interprofessional values/ethics and communication. Competency development in the domain of values/ethics stresses placing patients or communities at the center of care; building a trusting relationship with patients, families and other team members; acting with honesty and integrity; managing ethical conflicts specific to interprofessional caregiving; and respecting the diversity of individual and cultural differences among patients, families and team members. Competency development in the domain of interprofessional communication stresses using respectful language, organizing and communicating information with patients, families and health team members in an understandable form, choosing effective communication tools and techniques, and communicating effectively in difficult situations.

**Example C.** Service learning projects are frequently used as values-based educational opportunities to help students develop person and patient-centered knowledge and skills with a community/population-orientation around the health and health care needs of the at risk, vulnerable, and underserved. There is an extensive literature on the service learning approach to education, and this approach is being applied more frequently in interprofessional education.

The extracurricular Urban Service Track at the University of Connecticut offers students from the schools of medicine, nursing, pharmacy and dentistry who are interested in primary care, and are at various points in their training, the opportunity to become Urban Health Scholars (Clark-Dufner, Gould, Dang, Goldblatt & Johnson, 2010). There are plans to add social work students in another cycle. The program was created and is supported by the Connecticut Area Health Education Center Program, located within the University of Connecticut Center for Public Health and Health Policy. Three principles common to all students participating are 1) interest in working with underserved patients, 2) a history of volunteerism, and 3) a commitment to learning and working in interprofessional health care teams. Interprofessional team building and leadership is one of 11 identified competency areas. These competency areas were identified in collaboration with primary care practitioners in the state caring for the urban underserved. Over a two-year period, students who are based at federally qualified community health centers or community health agencies participate in a variety of learning activities chosen to help them develop the 11 identified competencies. These activities incorporate advocacy skills and the delivery of prevention and health promotion activities.

## Stages of Competency Development

**6 6** ...[A] capability can be defined as an integrated application of knowledge where the student or practitioner can adapt to change, develop new behaviors and continue to improve performance.

(Walsh et al. pp. 232-233)

The idea of interprofessional learning as continual is consistent with the ACGME Medical Outcomes Project, where a "milestones" framework structures medical residency training. Milestones define more specific levels of performance to be expected in competency domains across three years of residency education (ACGME, March 23, 2010). New U.S. continuing education reports (e.g., American Association of Colleges of Nursing and Association of American Medical Colleges, 2010) indicate that interprofessional learning takes place beyond the pre-licensure, pre-credentialing period, particularly in the workplace. In the three-stage model in place at the University of British Columbia (Charles, Bainbridge, & Gilbert, 2010), the third stage is mastery and encompasses advanced level interprofessional learning experiences for graduate students.

Competency statements described in this report reflect the endpoint of initial health professional education (pre-licensure or pre-credentialing). Within the pre-licensure framework, educators have identified stages of interprofessional learning, and shaped interprofessional learning activities to these stages. A central part of choosing learning activities is a core interprofessional curriculum plan, which integrates required curricular components. For example, the University of Toronto (2008) uses a three-stage curriculum framework [see figure 7] of exposure, immersion, and competence in preparing health professions' students for collaborative practice. The program culminates in the demonstration of the core competencies in clinical placement.
### FIGURE 7: A Framework for the Development of Interprofessional Education Values and Core Competencies



Reprinted with permission from University of Toronto. (2008). Advancing the Interprofessional Education Curriculum 2009. Curriculum Overview. Toronto: University of Toronto, Office of Interprofessional Education. Competency Framework.

The Medical University of South Carolina has made a commitment to the overall goal of ensuring that all health professions students there acquire interprofessional competencies. Four more specific goals drive a "learning spiral" conceptualized around two dimensions: **building teamwork competencies** through a sequence of "prepare, think, practice, and act" and **transforming ways of knowing** from absolute to transitional, independent, and contextual stages. The framework draws from several carefully selected approaches to adult learning (Blue, Mitcham, Smith, Raymond, & Greenberg, 2010; Medical University of South Carolina, 2007). As they progress through the four stages of the learning cycle, students acquire, apply and demonstrate their interprofessional teamwork competencies in increasingly complex learning settings [see figure 8].

FIGURE 8: Medical University of South Carolina conceptual framework for advancing interprofessional education.



Reprinted with permission from Medical University of South Carolina. (2007, February). Creating Collaborative Care (C3): A Quality Enhancement Plan (QEP). Charleston, SC: Author.

The new 1Health program at the University of Minnesota dedicates three learning phases to three core interprofessional competency domains: professionalism/ ethics, communication, and teamwork. Learning experiences culminate with students working in an interprofessional team to address a patient care, population health, or community problem. The expectation is that all students will achieve interprofessional competencies defined by the Academic Health Center prior to graduation (University of Minnesota, 2010; Josiah Macy Jr. Foundation, 2010).

A staged program focused on sequential learning approaches—didactic, simulation, and clinical—also is in place at the Western University of Health Sciences, where students from nine professions will cap a series of learning experiences with an interprofessional clinical practice stint in a hospital or community setting in the 2011-2012 academic year (Western University of Health Sciences, 2011).

An important element these programs share is that they use a full range of extracurricular activities to help students reach the competency goals.

As suggested by this sample of frameworks, for pre-licensure/pre-credentialing learning, interprofessional competencies ultimately are demonstrated through teamwork and team-based care in concrete clinical learning situations. Demonstration and honing these competencies require reflection, flexibility, and adaptability to the spectrum of care contexts – from prevention and health maintenance to acute, chronic, long-term and palliative care – and the overall goals of care in specific situations.

# Theories Informing Interprofessional Education

An array of learning and related theories can contribute to understanding and implementing IPE.

(Sargeant, 2009, p. 179)

Interprofessional education now suffers from a lack of guidance from appropriate theories. The scope of this report precludes more than brief guidance in that area. Two recent sources are particularly helpful in considering appropriate theories to guide the design and implementation of interprofessional education. The first is a scoping review of theories, which have guided interprofessional learning, that might usefully be considered, or that may help assess what unstated theory informs a particular experience (Reeves et al., 2007). The second is an article by Sargeant (2009), which describes specific social and learning theories that capture the differences in the content and processes of interprofessional learning. Sargeant examines complexity theory, and theories related to social identity, professionalism, and stereotyping, as well as situated learning, communities of practice, reflective and experiential learning, and transformative learning. Cognitive theories, such as cognitive apprenticeship (Brandt, Farmer & Buckmaster, 1993) and the ecological approach to team cognition (Cooke, Gorman, & Rowe, 2009) set forth frameworks useful in interprofessional team-based learning.

## Key Challenges to the Uptake and Implementation of Core Interprofessional Competencies

• **Institutional Level Challenges** – There is a lack of top administrative leadership support for adequate resources to create an interprofessional component to health professions students' education. In institutions that implement systematic programs of interprofessional education top leadership support has been critical.

**Positive Examples:** The Medical University of South Carolina chose the topic of interprofessional education for its 10-year Quality Enhancement Plan required for reaffirmation of accreditation by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. The University of Minnesota, Rosalind Franklin University, and Western University of Health Sciences are among the schools implementing institution-level interprofessional education programs with top administrative support.

• The Lack of Institutional Collaborators - Some schools interested in launching interprofessional learning have no other or limited professional schools in their institution to partner with, and some potential partners are unwilling to take on an interprofessional agenda.

**Positive Example:** Vanderbilt University has reached out to two other universities to add pharmacy and social work students, enhancing the experience of the medical and nursing students, indeed all students, in the new Program in Interprofessional Learning.

• **Practical Issues** - Scheduling and finding time to bring students together across the professions remains an issue.

**Positive Examples:** The University of California, San Francisco and Rosalind Franklin University have gone to a common calendar across programs.

• **Faculty Development Issues** - Health professions faculty need training to become effective interprofessional educators. The content and process of interprofessional learning differ from other academic content they teach.

**Positive Examples:** The Medical University of South Carolina's Faculty Development Institute is competitive throughout the University; and its promotion and tenure guidelines support involvement in interprofessional education. The University of Toronto has an annual interprofessional education faculty development program and consults with other institutions to assist in faculty development. The Western University of Health Sciences has explicitly trained faculty in interprofessional facilitation skills.

### Institute of Medicine Educating for the Health Team 1972

A major deterrent to our efforts to fashion health care that is efficient, effective, comprehensive, and personalized is our lack of a design for the synergistic interrelationship of all who can contribute to the patient's well being. We face, in the next decade, a national challenge to redeploy the functions of health professions in new ways, extending the roles of some, perhaps eliminating others, but more closely meshing the functions of each than ever before.

There are organizational, political, ethical, and legal problems to be faced. But it is certain that in the coming process of reexamination the responsibility of the academic health centers and other educational institutions will be central. Can the provision of health care be improved by closer interaction of health professionals in new ways, and can the education of health professionals together facilitate the cooperative endeavors so urgently needed in practice? • Assessment Issues - The need for assessment instruments to evaluate interprofessional competencies represents a "next step" in the development of competency-based interprofessional education for all stages of interprofessional learning. This work is in early stages of development.

**Positive Example:** One example of work underway is the project described by Curran et al. (2009) in Canada to develop an Assessment Rubric for interprofessional collaborative competencies within the context of an Interprofessional Team Objective Structured Clinical Examination.

• Lack of Regulatory Expectations - Recognition by accrediting bodies of interprofessional competencies as vital to health professions educational programs reinforces the imperative to address it by faculty and institutional leaders.

**Positive Examples**: The pharmacy profession at the national level has now integrated interprofessional learning expectations into curricula and accreditation. Eight accrediting organizations participating in the Accreditation of Interprofessional Health Education initiative supported by Health Canada have adopted shared principles and plan to pilot test a common program assessment tool to evaluate interprofessional education activities. (Accreditation of Interprofessional Health Education, 2009a, 2009b)

The challenges to bringing about transformational change in health professions education, which includes much stronger emphasis on "learning together to work together," are real and will require creativity and commitment to overcome. However, positive changes, such as the examples described, indicate that many of the elements requiring change are "unfreezing". Further, the support for such changes is coming from many different sectors. We are confident that 40 years from now calls for integrated interprofessional education for collaborative practice will not resonate with healthcare practitioners, as the IOM 1972 report does with today's health professions educators. Every indication is that the time is now indeed right for transformational changes and, collectively, we are ready for action.

(IOM, pp. 4-5)

### Scope of This Report

This report focuses on the charge the panel was given to identify individual-level interprofessional competencies for future health professionals in training. We wrote competency statements and identified learning activities relevant for the pre-licensure/pre-credentialing student. The report targets a specific aspect of health professions training focused on relationships among professions and with patients using a community/population-orientation. As such, it makes a specific, limited contribution to the larger arena of health professions education and health improvement. However, we hope that the competencies identified are general enough in language to articulate with and bolster interprofessional learning beyond the student level, as well as to spur needed educational research and evaluation.

Educators have raised challenges to educational approaches that frame outcomes in terms of competencies [Reeves, Fox & Hodges, 2010; ten Cate & Scheele, 2007; Walsh et al., 2005].

These include:

- "parceling out" and reinforcing conventional boundaries of practice across the professions with potentially negative impact on the efforts to encourage more collaboration in practice;
- unwieldy educational and evaluation processes brought about by too much specificity in professional competency expectations by multiple evaluators/ regulators;
- a reductionism that works against complex thinking needed for holistic responses to specific practice situations;
- "freezing" competency expectations at a particular point in time, i.e., competency rather than capability, the latter increasing in complexity and sophistication over a lifetime professional learning trajectory in different clinical contexts;
- 5) lack of flexibility in practice contexts where overlapping practice boundaries and innovation can be responsive to shifting patient and population health needs;

6) difficulties with assessment of competencies.

In this report, we have made an effort to address, or at least recognize, these current or potential limitations.

By including public health in crafting the interprofessional competencies we acknowledge our increasing acceptance that real health improvement is a function of direct care providers and public health professionals working together to address environmental and social determinants of health, prevention, and early detection

as well as the individualized components of treating illness. We break ground with modest beginnings as we all work out the nature of these relationships in broader approaches to improving health and health care.

The inclusion of systems knowledge is not explicit in the report. However, the recognition that interprofessional competencies are best learned and mastered over time in specific interprofessional learning contexts (clinical and non-clinical) around specific healthcare and health improvement goals is a fundamental message of the report.

The competencies we identified in this report do not address either the unique aspect of each health profession or the common clinical and public health knowledge base that health professionals share. We recognize that greater awareness of shared areas might lead to greater efficiencies in health professions education. The uniqueness of professional expertise is fundamental to teamwork and team-based care. We recognize the dynamic nature of this evolving knowledge base in a climate that increasingly values interdisciplinary/interprofessional translational research, and the ways this type of research will help close the gaps between research and practice going forward.

We recognize that the report is silent about the non-professional workers who have always been there to provide care on the "front lines", such as home care and nursing home aides, community health workers and others in new roles being created. Their experiential knowledge base is critical to giving individualized care that is safe, efficient, and effective, and, accordingly, models need to be developed to recognize and value their role in teamwork and team-based care.

We also realize that other disciplines, more remote from direct health improvement initiatives, such as architects, engineers, librarians, and those in the humanities contribute in important ways to the overall quality of health and health care.

Finally, this report grew from the commitment of the six participating professional educational organizations to define interprofessional competencies for their professions. Our hope is that other professional education organizations, as well as a broader group of stakeholders in the quality of health professions education, will see the value of these competencies and adopt the recommendations in their own work. The most important stakeholders are persons who are sometimes patients and communities themselves that stand to benefit when health professions work together better to improve health and health care. Engaging other stakeholders will add broader scope and momentum to help transform the interprofessional education of health professionals for the future.

### REFERENCES

Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME). (2011). Common program requirements. Chicago. Retrieved April 1, 2011 from http://www.acgme. org/acwebsite/home/Common\_Program\_ Requirements\_07012011.pdf

Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME). (2010, March 23). Next accreditation system focus of CEO's speech at 2010 ACGME Annual Educational Conference. Retrieved April 8, 2011 from http://www.acgme.org/acwebsite/ newsReleases/newsRel\_3\_23\_10\_1.asp

Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education. (2011). Accreditation standards and guidelines for the professional program in pharmacy leading to the doctor of pharmacy degree. Retrieved April 7, 2011 from http://www.acpeaccredit.org/pdf/S2007Guidelines2.0\_ ChangesIdentifiedInRed.pdf

Accreditation of Interprofessional Health Education. (2009a). National forum. Ottawa: Health Canada. Retrieved January 2, 2011 from http://www.cihc.ca/static/docs/aiphe/ AIPHE\_National\_Forum\_Report.pdf

Accreditation of Interprofessional Health Education. (2009b). Principles and practices for integrating Interprofessional education into the accreditation standards for six health professions in Canada. Health Canada. Retrieved January 2, 2011 from http://www.cihc.ca/files/AIPHE\_Principles\_ and\_Implementation\_Guide\_EN.pdf

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. AHRQ Health Care Innovations Exchange. (April 14, 2008, updated April 28, 2010). Medical team training using crew resource management principles enhances provider communication and stimulates improvements in patient care. Rockville, MD. Retrieved April 7, 2011 from http://www. innovations.ahrq.gov/content.aspx?id=1809

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (nd). TeamSTEPPS National Implementation. TeamSTEPPS curriculum tools and materials. Rockville, MD. Retrieved April 9, 2011 from http://teamstepps.ahrq.gov/ abouttoolsmaterials.htm

American Academy of Pediatrics, Section on Pediatric Dentistry and Oral Health. (2008). Preventive oral health interventions for pediatricians. Pediatrics, 122, 1387-1394.

American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2006). The essentials of doctoral education in advanced nursing practice. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved March 29, 2011 from http://www.aacn.nche.edu/ dnp/pdf/essentials.pdf

American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2008). The essentials of baccalaureate education for professional nursing practice. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved March 29, 2011 from http:// www.aacn.nche.edu/education/pdf/ BaccEssentials08.pdf

American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2011). The essentials of a master's education in nursing. Draft. February 7, 2011. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved March 29, 2011 from http://www.aacn.nche.edu/ Education/pdf/DraftMastEssentials.pdf

American Association of Colleges of Nursing and Association of American Medical Colleges. (2010). Lifelong learning in medicine and nursing, Washington, DC: American Association of Colleges of Nursing.

American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy. Center for the Advancement of Pharmaceutical Education. (2004). Educational Outcomes. Alexandria, VA: Author. Retrieved April 7, 2011 from http://www.aacp.org/resources/education/ Documents/CAPE2004.pdf

American Dental Education Association. (2008). Competencies for the new general dentist. Journal of Dental Education, 72, 823-826.

Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC). (2008). Learn, serve, lead. Washington, DC: Author.

Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC). (1999). Communication in medicine. Contemporary issues in medicine. Report III. Medical School Objectives Project. Washington, DC: Author.

Association of Schools of Public Health (ASPH). (2006, August). Master's degree in public health core competency development project. Version 2.3. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved April 16, 2011 from http:// www.asph.org/document.cfm?page=851

Association of Schools of Public Health (ASPH).(2011, March). Undergraduate public health learning outcomes. {Draft] Model Version 1.0. Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved April 16, 2011 from http://www. asph.org/userfiles/UGPHLearningOutcomes\_ ModelVersion1.0\_2011\_03\_09.pdf

Aston, S. (2011, April 14). Interprofessional education: Big picture perspectives from the field. Panel presentation at Joint AACOM & AODME annual meeting. Meeting future health care needs: The role of interprofessional education, Baltimore, MD.

Baggs, J., & Schmitt, M.H. (1997). Nurses' and resident physicians' perceptions of the process of collaboration in the MICU. Research in Nursing and Health, 20, 71-80.

Baker, D. P., Gustafson, S., Beaubien, J.M., Salas, E., & Barach, P. (2005a). Medical team training programs in health care. pp. 253-267 in *Advances in Patient Safety: From Research to Implementation*. Volumes 4, Programs, tools, and products. AHRQ Publication Nos. 050021 (1-4). February 2005. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD. Retrieved March 23, 2011 from http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/ advances/

Baker, D.P., Gustafson, S., Beaubien, J. M., Salas, E., & Barach, P. (2005b). Medical teamwork and patient safety: The evidencebased relation. Literature review. AHRQ Publication No. 05-0053, April 2005. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD. Retrieved March 23, 2011 from http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/medteam/

Baldwin, D.C., Jr. (May 6, 2010). Fostering interdisciplinary teamwork in graduate medical education. Presentation. Sixth Annual AAMC Physician Workforce Research Conference. Alexandria, VA.

Baldwin, D.C. Jr. (2006). Two faces of professionalism. In K. Parsi & Sheehan, M. N. (eds.). Healing as vocation: A medical professional primer (pp. 103-118). Lanham, New York: Rowman & Littlefield.

Banks, S., Allmark, P., Barnes, M., Barr, H., Bryant, L., Cowburn, M., et al. (2010). Interprofessional ethics: A developing field? Notes from the *Ethics & Social Welfare* Conference, Sheffield, UK, May 2010. Ethics and Social Welfare, 4(3), 280-294. Barr, H. (1998). Competent to collaborate: Towards a competency-based model for interprofessional education. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 12, 181-187.

Barr, H., Koppel, I., Reeves, S., Hammick, M., & Freeth, D. (2005). Effective interprofessional education: Argument, assumption and evidence. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing. Berwick, D., Davidoff, F., Hiatt, H., & Smith, R. (2001). Refining and implementing the Tavistock principles for everybody in health care. BMJ, 323, 616-620.

Blank, L., Kimball, H., McDonald, W., & Merino, J. Medical professionalism in the new millennium: A physician charter 15 months later. Annals of Internal Medicine, 138, 839-841.

Blue, A. V., Mitcham, M., Smith, T., Raymond, J., & Greenberg, R. (2010). Changing the future of health professions: Embedding interprofessional education within an academic health center. Academic Medicine, 85, 1-6.

Blue, A. V., Zoller, J., Stratton, T.D., Elam, C. L., & Gilbert, J. (2010). Interprofessional education in U.S. medical schools. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 24, 204-206.

Brandt, B. L., Farmer, J. A. & Buckmaster, A. (1993). Cognitive apprenticeship approach to helping adults learn. New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, 1993(59), 69-78.

Buring, S., Bhushan, A., Broeseker, A., Conway, S., Duncan-Hewitt, W., Hansen, L. et al. (2009). Interprofessional education: Definitions, student competencies, and guidelines for implementation. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 73(4), 1-8.

Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative. (2010, February). A national interprofessional competency framework. Retrieved April 25, 2010 from http://www. cihc.ca/resources/publications

Charles, G., Bainbridge, L., & Gilbert, J. (2010). The University of British Columbia model of interprofessional education. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 24, 9-18. Chesluk, B. (2010, October 20). Assessing physician competency in teamwork. Conference presentation. Interprofessional education: The new foundation for healthcare delivery. Indiana University. Indianapolis, IN.

Clark, P., Cott, C., Drinka, T.J.K. (2007). Theory and practice in interprofessional ethics: A framework for understanding ethical issues in health care teams. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 21, 591-603.

Clark-Dufner, P., Gould, B., Dang, D. K., Goldblatt, R.S., & Johnson, J. (2010). The University of Connecticut Urban Service Track: An effective academic-community partnership. Connecticut Medicine, 74(1), 33-36.

Coggeshall, L. T. (1965). Planning for medical progress through education. Evanston, Illinois: Association of American Medical Colleges.

Collins, L., Arenson, C., Rattner, S., Wallock, S., Umland, E., Hewston, L., et al. (2009). The Health Mentors Program: A longitudinal chronic illness mentorship program. Retrieved April 16, 2011 from MedEdPORTAL:http://services.aamc. org/30/mededportal/servlet/s/segment/ mededportal/?subid=4062

Cooke, N.J., Dorman, J.C., & Rowe, L.J. (2009). An ecological perspective on team cognition. In E. Salas, G. F. Goodwin & Burke, S. (Eds.) Team effectiveness in complex organizations. New York: Psychology Press.

Cooke, M., Irby, D.M. & O'Brien, B.C. (2010). Educating physicians: A call for reform of medical school and residency. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Commission on Dental Accreditation. (2010). Accreditation standards for dental education programs. Chicago: American Dental Association.

Cronenwett, L., Sherwood, G., Barnsteiner, J., Disch, J., Johnson, J., Mitchell, P., et al. (2007). Quality and safety education for nurses. Nursing Outlook, 55, 122-131.

Cronenwett, L., Sherwood, G., Pohl, J., Barnsteiner, J., Moore, S., Sullivan, D., et al. (2009). Quality and safety education for advanced nursing practice. Nursing Outlook, 57, 338-348.

Curran, V., Casimiro, L., Banfield, V., Hall, P., Lackie, K., Simmons, B., et al. (2009). Research for interprofessional competencybased evaluation (RICE). Journal of Interprofessional Care, 23, 297-300.

D'Amour, D. & Oandasan, I. (2005). Interprofessionality as the field of interprofessional practice and interprofessional education: An emerging concept. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 19 (Supplement 1), 8-20.

Department of Veterans Affairs. Veterans Health Administration. (2010, August 26). VA requests proposals for primary care education centers of excellence. Program Announcement, Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved April 9, 2011 from http://www. va.gov/oaa/rfp\_coe.asp

Dombeck, M.T. (1997). Professional personhood: Training, territoriality and tolerance. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 11, 9-21.

Edmondson, A. C. & Roloff, K. S. (2009). Overcoming barriers to collaboration: Psychological safety and learning in diverse teams. In Salas, E., Goodwin, G. F., & Burke, C. S. (Eds.) Team effectiveness in complex organizations (pp. 183-208). New York: Psychology Press.

Essens, P. J. M.D., Vogelaar, A. L.W., Mylle, J. J. C., Blendell, C., Paris, C., Halpin, S. M., et al. (2009). Team effectiveness in complex settings: A framework. In Salas, E., Goodwin, G. F., & Burke, C. S. (Eds.) Team effectiveness in complex organizations (pp. 293-320). New York: Psychology Press.

Evans, C. H., Cashman, S. B., Page, D.A., & Garr, D. R. (2011). Model approaches for advancing interprofessional prevention education. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 40, 245-260.

Frenk, J., Chen, L., Bhutta, Z.A., Cohen, J., Crisp, N., Evans, T., et al. (2010). Health professionals for a new century: Transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. The Lancet, 376 (9756), 1923-1958.

Gittell, J. (2009). High performance healthcare. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.

Gray, L. (2011, March 30). UW students from different health professions train as patient-care teams. UW Today. Seattle, WA: University of Washington. Retrieved April 17, 2011 from http://www.washington.edu/ news/articles/students-from-different-healthprofessions-train-as-teams See also, retrieved April 16, 2011. http:// uwconnect.adobeconnect.com/p96258444 /?launcher=false&fcsContent=true&pbMod e=normal

Health Resources and Services Administration, Bureau of Health Professions. (2010). Consensus outcomes from the 2010 All-Advisory Committee meeting. Unpublished internal document.

Hean, S. (in press). The measurement of stereotypes in the evaluation of interprofessional education. In J. Jackson & P. Blateau (Eds.). Innovation, implementation, and evaluation: The keys to unlocking interprofessional learning. Basingstoke: Palgrave.

Institute of Medicine. (1972). Educating for the heath team. Washington, D.C.: National Academy of Sciences. Institute of Medicine. (2000). To err is human: Building a safer health system. Washington DC: National Academy Press.

Institute of Medicine. (2001). Crossing the quality chasm. Washington DC: National Academy Press.

Institute of Medicine. (2003). Health Professions Education: A Bridge to Quality. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

Interprofessional Education Team, Faculty of Health and Wellbeing, Sheffield Hallam University (2010), Interprofessional Capability Framework 2010: Mini-guide. Also, Self Assessment of Interprofessional Capability. Sheffield, UK: Author.

Interprofessional Professionalism Collaborative. Definition of Interprofessional Professionalism. Retrieved December 14, 2010 from http:// interprofessionalprofessionalism.weebly. com/

Josiah Macy Jr. Foundation. (2010). Educating nurses and physicians: Toward new horizons. New York, NY: Author. Retrieved April 11, 2011 from http:// www.macyfoundation.org/publications/ publication/educating-nurses-andphysicians-toward-new-horizons

Kaiser Family Foundation. (2010). Focus on health reform. Summary of new health reform law. No. Publication #8061. Menlo Park, CA: Author. Retrieved March 16, 2011 from http://www.kff.org/healthreform/ upload/8061.pdf

King, H. B., Battles, J., Baker, D. P. Alonso, A., Salas, E., Webster, J., et al. (2008, July). TeamSTEPPS: Team Strategies and Tools to Enhance Performance and Patient Safety. In Advances in Patient Safety: New Directions and Alternative Approaches. Volume 3. Performance and tools. (Pp. 5-20). AHRQ

Publication Nos. 08-0034 (1-4). Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD. Retrieved March 23, 2011 from http:// www.ahrq.gov/qual/advances2/.

Kirkpatrick, D. L. (1967). Evaluation of training, in R. Craig & L. Bittel (Eds.). Training and development handbook (pp. 87-112). New York: McGraw-Hill.

Lamb, G, Schmitt, M, Edwards, P., Sainfort, F., Duva, I., & Higgins, M. (2008, October 2-4). Measuring staff nurse care coordination in the hospital. Presentation at the National State of the Science Congress on Nursing Research. Washington, DC.

Maine, L. (2005). Viewpoints. The Class of 2015. American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education. 69, 390-391.

Macintosh, S. E., Adams, C.E., Singer-Chang, G., & Hruby, R. J. (2011, in press). An osteopathic approach to implementing and promoting interprofessional education. Journal of the American Osteopathic Association.

McNair, R.P. The case for educating health care students in professionalism as the core content of interprofessional education. Medical Education, 39, 456-464.

Medical University of South Carolina. (2007, February). Creating Collaborative Care (C3): A Quality Enhancement Plan (QEP). Charleston, SC: Author.

O'Halloran, C., Hean, S., Humphris, D., & McLeod-Clark, J. (2006). Developing common learning: The new generation project undergraduate curriculum model. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 20, 12-28.

O'Neil, E.H. & the Pew Health Professions Commission. (1998). Recreating health professional practice for a new century-The

42

fourth report of the Pew Health Professions Commission. San Francisco, CA: Pew Health Professions Commission.

Peyser, A., Gerard, F.M., & Roegiers, X. (2006). Implementing a pedagogy of integration: Some thoughts based on a textbook elaboration experience in Viet Nam. Planning and changing, 37 (1/2), 37-55.

Pronovost, P. & Vohr, E. (2010). Safe patients, smart hospitals. New York: Hudson Street Press.

Reeves, S. Fox, A., & Hodges, B.D. (2009). The competency movement in the health professions: Ensuring consistent standards or reproducing conventional domains of practice. Advances in Health Sciences Education, 14, 451-453.

Reeves, S., Suter, E., Goldman, J., Martimianakis, T., Chatalalsingh, C., & Dematteo, D. (2007). A scoping review to identify organizational and education theories relevant to interprofessional education and practice. Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative. Retrieved April 6, 2011 from http://meds. queensu.ca/quipped/assets/ScopingReview\_ IP\_Theories\_Dec07.pdf

Roegiers, X. (2007). Curricular reforms guide schools: but, where to? Curriculum change and competency-based approaches: A worldwide perspective. Prospects, 37, 155-186.

Salas, E., Goodwin, G. F., & Burke, C. S. (Eds.) (2009). Team effectiveness in complex organizations. New York: Psychology Press.

Sargeant, J. (2009). Theories to aid understanding and implementation of interprofessional education. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions, 29, 178-184.

Colleges of Pharmacy, American Dental Education Association, Association of American Medical Colleges, and Association of Schools of Public Health.

©2011 American Association of Colleges of Nursing, American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, American Association of

Schmitt, M.H., Baldwin, D.C. Jr., & Reeves, S. (forthcoming). Continuing interprofessional education: Collaborative learning for collaborative practice. In D.K. Wentz (Ed.). Continuing medical education: Looking back, planning ahead. Hanover, NH: Dartmouth College Press.

Schmitt, M.H. & Stewart, A. L. (2011). Commentary on "Interprofessional Ethics - A Developing Field?": A Response to Banks et al. (2010). Ethics and Social Welfare, 5(1), 72-78.

Shannon, S. (March, 2011). The growing case for interprofessional education. Inside OME. 5(3). Chevy Chase, MD: American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine. Retrieved April 10, 2011 from http://www.aacom.org/resources/ome/2011-03/Pages/president.aspx

Singla, D. L., MacKinnon, G. E., MacKinnon, K. J., Younis, W., & Field, B. (2004). Interdisciplinary approach to teaching medication adherence to pharmacy and osteopathic medical students. Journal of the American Osteopathic Association, 104, 127-132.

Steinbrook, R. (2009). Health care and the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act. New England Journal of Medicine, 360, 1057-1060.

Stern, D. T. (2006). Measuring medical professionalism. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Suter, E., Arndt, J., Arthur, N., Parboosingh, J., Taylor, E., & Deutschlander, S. (2009). Role understanding and effective communication as core competencies for collaborative practice. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 23, 41-51.

ten Cate, O. (2005). Entrustability of professional activities and competencybased training. Medical Education, 39, 1176-1177.

ten Cate, O. & Scheele, F. (2007). Competency-based postgraduate training: Can we bridge the gap between theory and practice? Academic Medicine, 82, 542-547.

Thistlethwaite, J. & Moran, M. on behalf of the World Health Organization Study Group on Interprofessional Education and Collaborative Practice (2010). Learning outcomes for interprofessional education (IPE): Literature review and synthesis. Journal of Interprofessional Care, 24, 503-513.

University of British Columbia College of Health Disciplines. (2008). The BC competency framework for interprofessional collaboration. Vancouver, BC: Author. Retrieved March 4, 2011 from http:// www.chd.ubc.ca/files/file/BC%20 Competency%20Framework%20for%20 IPC.pdf

University of Minnesota Academic Health Center. Office of Education. (2010). 1Health. Minneapolis, MN: Author. Retrieved April 11, 2011 from http://www.ahc.umn. edu/1health/

University of Minnesota. Academic Health Center, Office of Education, (2009). Comparison study of health professional health accreditation standards. Minneapolis, MN: Author. Retrieved January 2, 2011 from http://www. interprofessional education.umn.edu/imgs/ AccreditationDocFinal030510.pdf

University of Toronto. (2008). Advancing the interprofessional education curriculum 2009. Curriculum overview. Competency framework.Toronto: University of Toronto, Office of Interprofessional Education. Retrieved December 18, 2010 from http:// www.interprofessional education.utoronto. ca/std/docs/Core%20Competencies%20 Diagram%202010.pdf

University of Virginia. (nd). Interprofessional core competencies. Charlottesville, VA: Author. Retrieved April 15, 2011 from http:// ipe.virginia.edu/what-is-ipe/

Walsh, C. I., Gordon, F., Marshall, M., Wilson, F., & Hunt, T. (2005). Interprofessional capability: A developing framework for interprofessional education. Nurse Education in Practice, 5, 230-237.

Weinstein, R.S., McNeely, R.A., Holcomb, M.J., Doppalapudi, L., Sotelo, M.J., Lopez, A.M., et al. (2010). Technologies for interprofessional education: e-classroomof-the-future. Journal of Allied Health, 39, 238-245.

Western University of Health Sciences. (2011), Interprofessional Education Model. Pomona, CA: Author. Retrieved April 7, 2011 from http://www.westernu.edu/ interprofessional-model

Wilder, R.S., O'Donnell, J.A., Barry, M., Galli, D.M., Hakim, F.F., Holyfield, L.J. & Robbins, M.R. (2008). Is dentistry at risk? A case for interprofessional education. Journal of Dental Education, 72, 1231-1237.

World Health Organization (WHO). (2010). Framework for action on interprofessional education & collaborative practice. Geneva: World Health Organization. Retrieved April 11, 2011 from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/ hq/2010/WHO\_HRH\_HPN\_10.3\_eng.pdf

Zaccaro, S.J., Heinen, B. & Shuffler, M. (2009). Team leadership and team effectiveness. In Salas, E., Goodwin, G. F., & Burke, C. S. (Eds.) Team effectiveness in complex organizations (pp. 83-111). New York: Psychology Press.

## APPENDIX Interprofessional Education Collaborative, Expert Panel Charge, Process and Panel Participants

The following participating associations convened the expert panel to produce a report on core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice: the American Association of Colleges of Nursing, the American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine, the American Association of Colleges of Pharmacy, the American Dental Education Association, the Association of American Medical Colleges, and the Association of Schools of Public Health. These six organizations formed an initial working group—the Interprofessional Education Collaborative (IPEC)—that produced a statement on interprofessional education collaboration in March 2009. This statement committed members to developing a common vision for how the respective professions could combine their unique abilities to deliver patient-centered team-based care, promote efforts to reform health care delivery and financing in line with that vision, and foster meaningful interprofessional learning experiences to support team-based care of the future. A framework of activities to support these goals was drafted in June 2009, including the identification of core competencies for interprofessional collaborative practice, current educational experiences, and curricular models.

### Panel Charge

Each IPEC organization appointed two individuals to the expert panel and charged the panel to:

- Recommend a common core set of competencies relevant across the six professions to address the essential preparation of clinicians for interprofessional collaborative practice
- Recommend learning experiences and educational strategies for achieving the competencies and related objectives

The panel was asked to identify consensus working definitions of interprofessional education and interprofessional collaborative practice, as well as a functional meaning of competencies. The educational piece of how to assess interprofessional competencies is an important companion activity that will necessarily follow from the recommended set of core competencies.

#### Panel Process described

A core set of materials on interprofessional competencies and related frameworks provided the panel with a common starting point at the panel's initial meeting at

the AAMC headquarters in Washington, D.C. on March 16, 2010. Over time and in step with fast developing educational and practice initiatives, the panel compiled additional resource material. This material came from new literature; expanded documentation of participating associations' own competency development efforts; information about interprofessional competency development work from educational institutions linked to the American Interprofessional Health Collaborative network; Health Resources and Services Administration, Bureau of Health Professions consensus efforts (2010); and the collection of institutional examples of interprofessional education being implemented in universities throughout the U.S. and beyond, including the panelists' own institutions.

Core competency domains were identified at an initial face-to-face meeting, after which the panel worked through conference calls and email exchanges to refine the competency domains, develop individual competency statements related to those domains, , and engage in robust content development, the results of which are manifested in this final report. This work also reflects feedback on the draft competencies by invited attendees at a conference- "Interprofessional Team-based Competencies: Building a Shared Foundation for Education and Clinical Practice, held February 16-17, 2011, jointly sponsored by the Health Resources and Services Administration, Josiah Macy Jr. Foundation, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, and American Board of Internal Medicine Foundation in collaboration with IPEC. Proceedings of that conference are published separately from this report.

#### **Panel Participants**

Madeline Schmitt, R.N., Ph.D., F.A.A.N. Professor Emerita, University of Rochester, School of Nursing (Panel Chair)

Sandra Carlin Andrieu, Ph.D., Associate Dean for Academic Affairs and Professor, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, School of Dentistry

Amy Blue, Ph.D., Assistant Provost for Education and Professor of Family Medicine, Medical University of South Carolina, College of Medicine

Thomas A. Cavalieri, D.O., F.A.C.O.I., F.A.C.P., Dean, Endowed Chair for Primary Care Research and Professor of Medicine, University of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey, School of Osteopathic Medicine

Jane Marie Kirschling, R. N., D.N.S., F.A.A.N., Dean and Professor, University of Kentucky, College of Nursing

Kathleen Ann Long, R.N., Ph.D., F.A.A.N., Dean and Professor, University of Florida, College of Nursing

Susan Mackintosh, D.O., M.P.H. Director of Interprofessional Education and Assistant Professor, Western University of Health Sciences, College of Osteopathic Medicine of the Pacific

Susan M. Meyer, RPh, Ph.D., Associate Dean for Education and Professor, University of Pittsburgh, School of Pharmacy

Daniel Robinson, Pharm.D., F.A.S.H.P, Dean and Professor, College of Pharmacy, Western University of Health Sciences

Leo E. Rouse, D.D.S., F.A.C.D., Dean and Clinical Associate Professor, Howard University College of Dentistry

Andrew A. Sorensen, Ph.D., M.P.H. Chair, Institutional Self-Study Task Force, University of South Carolina School of Medicine (affiliation at time of appointment) (deceased)

Thomas R. Viggiano, M.D., M.Ed., Associate Dean for Faculty Affairs, Professor of Medical Education and Medicine, Mayo Medical School

Deanna Wathington, M.D., M.P.H., F.A.A.F.P., Associate Dean for Academic and Student Affairs, Office of Academic and Student Affairs, and Associate Professor, University of South Florida, College of Public Health

Staff support was provided by Alexis L. Ruffin, M.S., Director, Medical Education, at the Association of American Medical Colleges.

The Expert Panel would like to thank the following institutions for sharing information about their interprofessional education programs for health professions students:

University of British Columbia The University at Buffalo-SUNY East Tennessee State University Grand Valley State University Indiana University Jefferson College of Health Sciences University of Kentucky University of Minnesota Medical University of South Carolina Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science St. Louis University University of Toronto University of Virginia University of Washington Vanderbilt University Western University of Health Sciences

This document may be reproduced, distributed, publicly displayed and modified provided that attribution is clearly stated on any resulting work and it is used for non-commercial, scientific or educational—including professional development—purposes. If the work has been modified in any way all logos must be removed. Contact ip@aamc.org for permission for any other use.